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1. Name of Property

historlc name STOCKBRIDGE COMMON HISTORIC DISTRICT
other names/site humber ) '

2. Location

street & number N /A - ] ‘N Al not for publication
clty, town _Stockbridge _ N LAl vicinity
state Vermont coda T _ county Windsor : code 027 _2lpcode 05772
3. Classification i
Ownership of Property ) Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private ] bullding(s) Contributing Noncontributing
public-local district , 6 bulldings
[ ] public-State [ ]site 1 sites
E] public-Federal |:] structure structures
[]object o _____ _objects
1 —_ Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed In the Natlonal Register __Q

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
- | X] nomination D request for d rmunauon of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
atlona ister of Higtoric P : Ces and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36. CFR Part 60,
opmlon th pert does not meet the National Register criteria. [ Isee continuati nAheet / ﬁ
Slgnature of certifying “official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinlon, the property I'_'] meets Ddoes not meet the National Register criterla. (I see continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other officlal Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, heraby, certify that this property Is:

|entered in the National Register.
[:] See continuation sheet.
[:]determined eligible for the National
Register. (] see continuation sheet.
[:]determined not eligible for the
National Register.

E] removed from the National Register.
[Jother, (explain:)

P

Wnature of the Keeper Date of Action




6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
~_Domestic - single:idwelling

Education = "school

Religion - religiious structure

Funerary = cemetery

LandscaDeAf.oublic common

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Domestic - single dwelling

Religlon - religious structure

Funerary - cémetery

Landscape — public common

7. Description -

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Federal

Greek Revival

No Stvle

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation __stone

walls weatherboard
vinyl

roof steel

other brick

cast iron

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

(Text appears on continuation sheets.) [

[ ] See continuation sheet



8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
[Inationaily statewide [iocally

Applicable National Register Criteria DA B EC |:] D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ ]B [ Jc [p [Je [JF [a

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Architecture 1786-c. 1930 c. 1804
Exploration/Settlement c. 1830

‘ 1884
Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Person Architect/Builder

Keyes, Elias unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted sbova.

(Text appears on continuation sheets.)

EISee continuation sheat
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[jprevlously determined eligibie by the National Register
designated a National Historlc Landmark
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Primary location of additionai data:, | : ;
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Other State agency
__|Federal agency
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‘Clother
Specify repository:

10. Geographical Data _

Acreage of property __approximately 15

UTM References
A
Zone Easting Northing

clus | lelsol4,20] 48150 3,50 |

B 1.8 6180 16,80 48150029 0]

Zone  Easting Northing
pl1.,8] l618p (6,20 (4815015 ,50 |

[]see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

k_]See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

[ ]see continuation sheet
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Situated on a hillside terrace within the White River wvalley, the
Stockbridge Common Historic District consists of six buildings
and & cemetery surrounding a public common. At least five of the
buildings were constructed during the century-long period from
1787 to 1884; one, the Town Shed/Garage (#2), may have been
rebuilt ¢. 1930 from a horse shed built in 1837. The wvernacular
buildings display only the rudimentary influence of the Federal
and Greek Revival styles. Five distinct types of buildings exist
in the historic district, sharing domestic scale, wood framing,
and gable roofs. The historic district possesses relatively high
integrity of location, setting, design, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association despite the twentieth-century removal of
four primary buildings. Some changes of exterior sheathing
materials as well as usage have occurred among the extant
buildings but the historic district retains the essential
character of an early nineteeth-century rural hamlet unmarred by
twentieth-century intrusions.

The Stockbridge Common Historic District is comprised of a total
0f six buildings plus Maplewood Cemetery and the namesake Common.
The historic district encompasses the surviving components of a
minor hamlet in a sparsely settled, rural township whose
principal village, Gaysville, lies five miles to the southeast.
The hamlet occupies a small flat terrace on the northeast side
of, and about 100 feet above the bottom of, the White River
valley. The present state highway, Route 100, follows the valley
floor, byvpassing the hamlet. Relatively steep, forested
hillsides flank the agricultural bottomland of the narrow valley.

The hamlet (and historic district) is traversed in the northwest-
southeast direction by the former Stockbridge-Rochester highwayv, a
relatively narrow paved road that adjoins the north sids of the

Common. A gravel driveway encloses the other sides of the
Common, providing access to the Union Church (#1), the town shad
#2), and iHaplewood Cemetery (#3). At the southeast end of

the Common, a gravel town road diverges from the paved road and
leads northeastward onto the hillside.

The Common itself is a roughly rectangular area of flat terrain.
Nearly its entire area consists simply of an open lawn. The east
gquarter i1s shaded by several small trees, mostly deciduous
species. A row of mature maple trees formerly defined thz north
of the Common but those trees have succumbed during recent
des to age and disease.
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IHost of the buildings in the historic district are arrayed around
the perimeter of the Common, generally facing it across the
roadways that enclose it. The only exception, the horse barn
(#7), stands somewhat apart from the Common's northwest corner
and across the road from the Carroll House (#6). The buildings
are spaced varying distances apart along the north and west sides
of the Common while Maplewood Cemetery adjoins the south side.

Despite the small number of buildings in the historic district,
only two share the same type (house). There exist five different
functional types of buildings: house, barn, church, shed, and
school. The Common and the cemetery contribute additional
varisty of landscape types.

These buildings share similar scale, forms, materials, and
colors. The scale is residential despite the presencs of ths
other building types; the Keyes-VWright House (i#5) surpasses the
others in size. All, however, possess the gable form of roof and
rectangular plans. The buildings share wood framing; among wall
sheathing materials, clapboards are universal except for the
metal =ziding on the town shed and the vinyl siding applied to
part of the Keyes-Vright House. Roof sheathing consists of shesest
metal on all of .the main blocks. In exterior color, white
pradominates; four of the six buildings are now painted white
while the other two (i#s4 and 7) are red.

ith one exception, the Carroll House (#6), the buildings in

the historic district are generally in good—-to—-excellent
condition. Three of the buildings - the Keyes-Wright House (#5),
the former school (#4), and the horse barn (#7) - have been
thoroughly rehabilitated since 1960. In 1989, the Union Church
{#1) has received a matching grant from the Vermont Division Ffor
Historic Preservation that will enable exterior painting, repair
of the front steps, and inspection of the foundation and sills.
The present owners of the adjacent Carroll House (#6) intend to
rehebilitate that building in the near future.
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Descriptions follow of the buildings and cemetery in the historic
district; the numbers are keyved to the accompanying sketch map.

1. Union Church; c¢. 1828 or 1836

Presenting its temple front to the Common, the one-story, thres-
by-three-bay, gable-roofed Union Church of rectangular plan
displays the basic elements of vernacular Greek Revival stvle.
Conilicting evidence exists regarding the year of its original
construction, eithar c¢. 1828 or 1836. The present appearance of
the church reflects "repairs" made in 1876.

The clapboarded building rests on a mortared rubble foundation
that has been faced or rewmlaced with concrete on the east and
north sidess. A wood water table with a drip cap encircles the
building, and serves as base for the paneled corner pilasters.
The pilasters, in turn, support a plain three-part entablature
that follows both the horizontal and raking eaves. The roof is
now sheathed with standing-sesam metal in place of the original
wood shingles.

"

main (east) gable facade possesses twin entrances placed in

side bays. Each single-leaf door with six raised pansls is

ramed by a stepped-out plain surround below a molded cornice
The doors are approached by individual two-riser concrete

atform steps; these steprs replaced the previous plank platform

ith end steps that spanned nearly the entire facade. The

ntral bay 1s occupied by a nine-over-nine sash with plain

round below a simples entablature; the upper half of the window

shielded by a louvered wood shutter while the shutters for the

r half ar= left open. A goose-neck metal light fixture is

ichad to the wall directly above the window. The horizontal

es entablature returns across this facade to enclose the

iment with a blind clapboarded tympanum.
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The matching side (north and south) eaves facades are lighted by
thres regularly spaced bayvs of windows identical to that on the
main facade. Each group of windows is offset somewvhat toward ths
west end of sach facade, reflecting the interior position of the
auditorium; the entrance vestibule lacks windows on thessa
facades. The rear (west) facade contrasts by being blank, and
posseasses only short horizontal returns of the eaves entablature.
An exterior brick chimney bisects this facade, culminating in a
corbesled cap.
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The interior of the church is partitioned into a sghallow entrance
vestibule with a low ceiling and the auditorium occupying most o:f
the interior space. Three doorways lead from the vestibule into
the auditorium; double-leaf, four-panel doors are aligned with
the c¢entral longitudinal aislzs of the auditorium and flanked by
singla-leaf doors corresponding in position to the sxterior
doors. Freestanding wood pews occupy the main floor on each side
of the aisle. A raised wood platform extends the entire width of
the auditorium's west end. The left third of the platform is
enclossd by a paneled, pilastered railing that curves toward a
central recession in the platform. A small nineteenth-century
gan made by the Estey Organ Co. of Brattleboro, Vermont stands
1ind the railing. A small wood lectern and altar table are
with the central aisle, flanked by wood choir pews on the
t third of the platform. The window and door openings are
owned by cornice caps. Suspended from the center of the
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ng, an elaborate six-lamp metal chandelier of Victorian
has been adapted from o0il to electricity.
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2. Town Shed/Garage; c¢. 1930 {(rebuilt from horse shed?)

Diagonally facing the Common, this vernacular shed stands
adjacent to the south facade of the Union Church (i#l) at the
northwest edge of lMaplewood Cemetery (#3). The one-story
building of eslongated rectangular plan rests on a rubbls
foundation mostly faced with concrete and carries a shallow-
pitched roof with a short front slope and longer rear slope. The
walls are sheathed with sheet metal pressed to simulate
clapboards; the sheet metal stops against wood corner and fascia
boairds. The roof is sheathed with corrugated metal and its rafter
tails are exposed along the horizontal =aves.

The broad main (east) eaves facade retains in its left half ons
of the two original truck entrances. Double-leaf, matchboardad
sliding doors are mounted on an exterior metal track that

ormarly axtended the entire width of this facade. The right
vehicle entrance has been infilled with clapboards around a
central four-panel pass door flanked closely by an ceight-light
horizontal window on each side. The south side facade is lighted
by two bays of four-light fixed windows, and a flushboarded pass
door enters the right corner.

th
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This building stands on the site of the horse shed associatzad
with the adjacent Union Church (#1). Constructed in 1837, the
elongated one-story shed carried a wood-shingled gable roof, and
its east eaves front was marlked by multiple full-bay openings.
The orientation and scale of the present shed match thoss of the
horse shed, indicating that this building may have been
reconstructed from its pradecessor. In 1969, the right half of
the building was adapted to contain a small public library
szrving Stockbridgse Common and vicinity.

3. Haplewood Cemetery
Flanking the south side of the Common, lMaplewood Cemetery occupies
a r=ctangular, mostly flat area that slopes gently downward at

the west end (a secition developed in recent decades). A row of
namssake mature maple trees defines the north sides of the cemetery
fronting the Common; maples and other deciduous trees bound the
south side along a downward sloping bank. A few decorativs

shirubs are scattered among the headstones.

)

3

The cemetery contains a variety of slate, marble, and granits
headstones predominantly of modest dimensions and simples design.
The slate stones are both ths oldest and the fewest in number,
the esarliest dating from 1789. Wear the center of the historic
section of the cemstery stands a distinctive cast—-iron fountain
paintsd in a polyvchromatic manner. The fountaln consists of
circular basin standing on short legs and rimmsd by a flangs
ambossad with frogs, flowers, and leaves. Rising from an oval
base at the center of the basin are the long-stemmed flowers and
lzaves of the calla 1lily surrounding the fluted central watesr
pipe. The fountain is not watered at present (1989).

A medern chain-link fence encloses the north and =2ast sides of
the ce ﬂetary, incorporating six double-leaf, hinged gates along
thz north side next to the gravel driveway that separates the
cematery and the Common. This metal fence replaced a nineteenth-
century wood picket fence incorporating a northeast front gate
with raissd piers supporting a round arch
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. Stockbridge Common School; 1884

Sited across the road from the northeast side of the Common, ths
former District Mo. 1 schoolhouse is oriented diagonally to the
curving road on a southeast-northwest axis. The one-and-one-
half-story, one-by-four-bay, gable-front vernacular building of
rectangular plan displays a modest blend of Greel Revival and
Italianate decorative featurses. The building ceassd being used
as a school in 1956, and was somewhat altered by conversion to a
rasidsnce in 1980.
Resting on a low mortared-rubble foundation, the building is
sheathed with clapboards and its roof is covered with standing-
seam sheet metal. A wood water table with molded upper =dge
encircles the building. Plain pilasters ascend the corners to
support a frieze and molded cornice ({(with returns) fcllowing the
gaves. An exposed bell is mounted in a metal frame n=ar the west
znd of the ridge. An interior brick chimney rises from the east
end of the ridge.
Thz main (west) facade possesses a central entrance with a siz-
panel door surmounted by a three-light transom and flankesd by
stepped~out plain pilasters. The pilasters support a Ir;ezeband
below the hip-roofed, Italianate door hood with molded cornice;
the hocd iz supported by scrolled and incised brackets. Centersd
above the hood is a rectangular wood sign lettered "Stockbridge
Common Schoel." The gable iz punctuated by two fixed six—-light
wincdows with »lain surrounds that were added during the
rasidential conversion.
Thz south eaves facade is lighted by four bays of modsrn one-
over-onz sash with snaﬁ—in sixz-over-six dividers. Each window

az z footed sill, ain surround, and cornice cap. The preszant
windows rastore thc arrangement of the six-over-siiz sash original
to thz building; during the first half of this century,
additional windows were installed between the present openings to
provide more light for the classroom. The fenestration of ths
opposite (north) facade diffzsrs by the presence of a large plate-
glazs window in the left half. This modern window marks ths
position of a one-story, ons-bay-deep, shed-roofsd wing (probably
containing toilets) that has been removed.
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5. Heyes-Vright House; 1785-87, completed c. 1804

Facing the north side of the Common from its site across the
road, this massive vernacular Federal style house of Georgian
plan stands oriented with its gable roof parallel to the road.
Thz two-and-ons-half-story, five-by-five-bay house rests on a
stone foundation. The south and west facades retain theilr
original clapboard sheathing and corner boards whilzs the east and
north facades have been overlaid with vinyl siding. A friezeband
and molded cornice follow the south horizontal =zaves and continue
(with szhort cornice returns) along the west raking eaves; only
the cornice (plus shori razturns) remains exposed on the zast
raliing and north horizontal =zaves. The 2xpansive gable roof is
sheathed with standing-sesam metal. Two intericr chimneys emergsa
from the south slope at the ridge; zach has been rzbuilt with
corbel tables and a concrste-slab cap.

The main (south) eaves facade 1s arranged symmetrically around a
central entrance. The eﬁtrance ensemble l1lncorporates a =sin-
panegl door flanked by half-l=ngth, six-pane sidelights and znfram:
by stepped-out plain pllasLers supporting a three-part
entablature. Aside from the single bay above the entrance, the
window bays are paired on both stories; the openings are now
fittaed with siz-over-six sash and have plain surrounds. Hinged,
louvered shutters are mountaed at each window.

The five-bay =ast gable facade differs slightly in its
arrengement. The flrst story possesses a central entrance but
its four-panel door has only a plain surround and six-light
transom. Thz window Qays on the right side are closely paired
while the cthers on thisz facade, including two bavys in ths gablszs,
are spacad farther apart. Ths opposite (west) facads has a nmors
irregular arrangement with five window bays on the first story
and four on the second; only the right pairs ares aligned
vertically.

Conztructad in 1959 to vreplace a deteriorated counterpart, a one-
story, gable roofed ell projzcts from the rear (north) facade of
thz main block. Thes clapboarded ell rests on a concrets
foundation, and its roof is wood-shinglad. A central louvere
cupcla of sguare plan straddles the ridge, its bellcast pyramidal
roof being wood-shingled and carrying a metal weathervane in the
form 0f a horse.
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The ell's esast eaves facade is recessed behind a four-bay

with square columns and segmental-arched owenings. Tha no
he ell contains & garage whose three vehicle bays are

2d ovarhesad doors. The original ell's =sast facade
v having at least three semielliptical-archesd, o
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thc house has been somewhat altersd during the
Several changes were made to the
orglan plan durlnc the 1860s when the house was
boarding house under the ownership of MHrs. Justin
Probably the most zubstantial involved the subdivision
cond-floor hall into small rooms. Excepting a bathroom
in the hall'z north end, these partitions wer:
e rehabilitation of thes house undertalken by th
in 1959.
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t-ztory southwest parlor exhibits the most elaborats

or historic decoration in thes house. Only this room
our—-panel sliding wood shutters at the windows. Its
wall is sheathed with paneled woodwork around the
and a fireplace whose firebo:: opening is
ansled pilasters auDDoLtﬂﬁg a frisze and mold=zd
izontal £lushboard wainscoting with a molded
lower walls above a molded baseboard. The DEY
aztered on thes =sast, south, and west sides of the

re Dartly exposad. Ths door and
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and other first-story rocoms — the southezast
dining roon, and northwest music room - display
idﬂO“poraulng wainscoting, molded surrounds, and
Thz southeast parlor differs flom the othe
g a blind m;ntelpwece instead of a fireplaca
result of the installation of a stove). In thse
kitchen retains the original massive bricl cooking
k“r with a beshive side oven; this chimney has
within the room since the reconstruction of ths
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Until its removal in 1960 owing to deteriorated condition, a
sunsuantial barn apparently of English type stcod to the rear
{north) of the house. The one-and-ona-half-story, £flushboa
abls-roofed barn was oriented parallel to the hous=a's
rcszeszzad a central wagon entrance on its east saves
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6. Carroll House; c¢. 1835

Sat back somswhat from the west edge of the Common, this modest
vernacular house stands bstwen the Union Church (#1) and the
rcad. The one-and-one-hali-story, two-by-two-bay, gabla-rooifzd
main block stands orientad parallel to the road but now lacks an
entranca. 2 similnr—ocgle, gabled south ell projscts five mors
cleszly spaced bays in length, its east eaves facade being f£lush
with the sast gable facade of the main block. The pressnt main
entrance occurs at the joint betneen the two blocizs. The houses
iz now {1989%9) in fair condition, awaiting a plannasd substantial
rehabilitation.

The main block rests on a foundation mostly rebuilit in concrets
blocl: while the ell's foundation is rubble faced with concrate.
The housze has a post—-and-beam Erame and is shesathed with
clapkboeards stopped by cornar boards. The boxed cornice laclks
rzturns. The roof is covered with standing-seam sheet metal.

The somewhat irregular fenestration includes two-over-two sash
with plain surrounds on the main block and east facadz of ths
£1ll. The main entrancz has a replacement door with a largs light
and IZcur horizontal panels; a simple cornice crowns ths opening.
A sescondary entrance in the sscond bay from the left (south) and
o the ell now has a modern metal door. Two eight-light
horizontal windows punctuate the ell's east kneewall. Ths
thrze-bay opposite (weszt) facade of the 211 diffzsrs by having a
tyuslve—ovar—twelve sash in the center bay, an eight-over-—-=ight
sazh in the ricght bav, and a left-bay entrance that now lacks a
door. The shadow cf a former full-length, shed-roofzd porch
remains on the wall.

he socuth gable facade of the 21l displays the zhadow of a former
onz-story, ons-bay, shed-roofzd wing. Formerly connected in turn
to the z»outh 2nd of the shed wing was a small ons—and-one-half-
story, flushboarded, gabled carriage barn with a wvshicle entrance
cn its gartly exposed north gable Lront. Both the shed wing and
thz barn were removed during the latter 1940s.



FPS )Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-88

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

Natlonal Reglster of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _7 Page __10

b

]
-4

o3

se Barn; c¢. 1850

Standing across the road from the Carroll House (I56), this small
horse barn probably was historically associated with that house.
Since ¢. 1960, howevar, the barn has belonged with the Keyss-
Vright House (#5) property.
The ons-and-one-half-story, twe-by—-two-bay, gable—Efront horss barn
rasts on a fieldstons foundation. Its post-and-bean Zrame is
shzathed with shiplap cnly on the main facade (replacing the
previous boards-—and-battens) and boards—-and-battens on ths other
sides. Thez gabls roof is coveraed with corrugated sheet metal.
The main (south) facade 1s entered on the right by a f£lushboardesd
docor 3liding cn an sxtzrior itracl; this door replaced a pravious
flushboardad interior sliding door inset with a six-light window.
Cznterad on ths upper lzvel is a flushboarded, hingsd loft door,
and =zbova that iz another rectangular loft opening. The easzt

723 facade is lighted by tro fixzed sizxz-pane windows while the
opposite (west) facade has four-pane stall windows. The interior
notr contains two horse s3talls on the left (west) side, and a hay
lcft on the upper level.
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Th2 Stockbridge Common Historic District holds primary
significance for representing a distinguishable entity, a
nineteenth-century rural Vermont hamlet, whose components may
lack individual distinction. Furthermore, there exist within the
historic district buildings that embody the distinctive
characteristics of specific types and periods of construction;
these include the late eighteenth-century Keyes-Uright House (it5)
of vernacular Federal style and Georgian plan, the c¢. 1830 Union
Church (#1) of vernacular Greek Revival style, and a one-roon
school (#4) built in 1884 with late Greek Revival features. The
historic district gains additional local significance for its
association with the lives of Elias Keyes, who played a prominent
role in the initial eighteenth-century settlement and development
of Stockbridge, and of members of the Morgan family, who raised
the famous Morgan horses while owning the Keyes farm during the
middle decades of the nineteenth century.

The hamlet of Stockbridgs Common compares with several cther
small villages that emerged during the early settlement of
Vermont in the late eighteenth century but gradually atrophied
during the latter nineteenth and twentieth centuries. These
villages share the characteristic of being sited on hills and
therefore isolated both from sources of water power and from the
principal transport routes that developed gensrally along the
river wvallzys, especially after the introduction of railroads
during the middle ninsteenth century. Generally other wvillages
were develoved in the valleys of the same townships, and those
supersedad the so-called hill villages especially in commercial
and industrial importance. In the town of Stockbridge, the
dominant village of Gaysville emerged around relatively large
mills at the major site of water power on the White River about
five miles from Stoclkbridge Common; the main highway and, for a
guarter century, a railroad passed through Gaysville (whossz
primacy and physical being were nearly destroyed by a cataclysmic
flood in 1927). Like some of the other hill villages in the
state, Stockbridge Common has been reduced to a skeleton of its
physcial extent and activity at the height of its development.
The period of significance for the historic district begins with
the construction in 1786-87 of the Keyes-Wright Housze (#5), the
garliest extant building on the site of the present hamlet. The
Unien Church (#1) was erected next, between 1828 and 1836, among
the surviving buildings. The adjacent Carroll House (#6) is
probably contemporary with the church although it is most closely
associated with Charles Carroll, its owner during at least ths
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1860s and 1870s. Only the former school (#4) represents the
latter half of the nineteenth century; by its construction in
1884, the hamlet had already begun to decline. The period of
significance concludes c¢. 1930 when the last building (the town
shed, #2) was completed.

Although the town of Stockbridge was chartered in 1761, the first
permanent settlement within its borders did not occur until
nearly & quarter-century later. Several families, including that
0of Elias Keyes (who was born in Connecticut in 1757), arrived
during 1784-85. In Mav of the latter year, the proprietors of
Stockbridge granted Keves 400 acres of land of his choice
encompassing a mill site on the Tweed River just upstream from
its confluence with the larger White River. The grant was
conditioned on the requirement that Keyes should build saw and
grist mills on the site within one year, and he proceedad to
accomplish the reguired tasks.

Keyes' choice of land included the terrace above the White River
where the hamlet of Stockbridge Common later emerged and fron
which he could overlock thes mill site to the south. Ths road
past the future Common was laid out in 1786, and the road survey
of that year refers to the large houss being built by Keyes. The
substantial two-and-one-half-story, gable-roofed houss ({5) of
vernacular Federal style and Georgian plan apparently proved a
morz formidable if not more costly project than Keyes
anticipatsed. He did not lack some financial means, engaging both
in the successful operation of the mills and in numsrous land
transactions. Keyes taught the first school in Stockbridgs, and
donated to the town the land in front of his house for a public
conmmon and cemetery. Nevertheless he did not complete the houcss
prior to its foreclosure in TFebruary, 1804 to satisfy a debt owed
to one Elkanah Stevens. Keyes lost most of his property by an
advaerse decision in litigation, and he was sent to the county
jail for failure to repay his debts.

In December, 1804, Stevens conveyed to Seth Wright of Boston "a
parcel of land containing about two acres lying North of the
Common in Stockbridge with a large house partly finished standing
thzreon." It is not definitely known how much or what part of
thz house remained for Wright to complete; one thesory holds that
Keyes finished only the first story and that the second story was
completed later, presumably by Wright. The latter's ownsrship
lasted until 1814 when Vright sold the house to Dr. Timothv P.
Fay, a prosperous local physician.
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Elias Keyes, meanwhile, redeemed himself to the extent that he
waz z2lected a judge of the Windsor County court. During the
period between 1793 and 1825 (both before and after his financial
failure), he represented Stockbridge in the Vermont Legislature
for a total of fourtesen yvears. He recovered some of his property
in Stockbridge, including the mills near where he lived until his
death in 1844.

The hamlet of Stockbridge Common labored under one intrinsic
disadvantage that impeded its nineteenth-century development
Mot being situated next to the White or Tweed Rivers msant t
the hamlet could never attract industry dependent on
hydromechanical power. Another location in Stockbridge township,
however, did offer that advantage, and the village of Gayvsvills
emergaed at the so-called "Great MNarrows" of the hite River about
five miles downstream. Beginning in 1832, a series of
substantial manufacturing enterprises developed there. The
largest was the five-story, brick mill with Italianate stylistic
features that was erected in 1860 for the manufacture of woolen
c¢loth. This mill was destroyed by fire in 1888 but, thrze vears
later, a button factory was opened and it lasted until about
1900. Emploving 75 or more persons, these enterprises dominated
Stockbridge's economic activity and undoubtedly attracted
residaents away from the Common hamlet. (Ironically, Gaysville's
ninsteenth-century advantage turned into its twentieth-century
undoing; the cataclysmic flood of 1927 descimated the villags and
it has never recovered.)

hat

Lilke many other rural Vermont towns, the population of
Stockbridge increased rather rapidly during the late eighteenth
and ezrly nineteenth centuries, and reached an historical maxzimunm
prior to 1850. The 1810 census of Stockbridge recorded 700
residents; the 1820 figure was 964; and by 1820 it was 1333. Ths
peak occurraed in 1840 when the population was 1419. Despite the
advent of larger-scale industrial enterprise in Gaysville, the
township's population had begun to decline by 1850 and it
dzcrzasad to 1124 by 1880.

) |

Given the large size of his original land grant, El1
house probably stood by itself on the terrace above
until the early nineteenth century. The increasing
the vicinity, however, brought a need for a local me
In March, 1328, Keves himszlf leased for $10.00 by in
to the "Union Heeting House Society in Stockbridge" a small pizcs
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of land in front of his former house (then owned by Dr. Fay, who
witnessed the indenture). The document refers to "a certain

iece of land lying on the north end of the common so-called in
said Stockbridge being the same on which stands a new meeting
house belonging to [the] society...." The socisty was formed in
1827 after Stockbridge residents withdrew from an earlier union
society in the adjoining township of Pittsfield.

0 'g

The refesrence to the "new meeting house" appears to confirm the
date of its construction. Other sources, however, give the date
as 1836. The vernacular Greek Revival style of the presant Union
Church (#1) strongly indicates the latter date, if not a laterxr
renovation during which the paneled corner pilasters, saves
entablature, and gable pediment may have been added to the
building.
nt of the indenture document was "to convey so much

shall accommodate the saild society in g=tting to and
house and on which they mav build a suitable numbsr of
eds for the convenience of the society while attending

at the house...." The elongated one-story, gakle-roofed
2ds were constructad in 1837, oriented diagonally to
th side of the church.
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Ovniership of the Keyes-Wright House changed again in 1822 when
Justin Morgan II acquired the property from Dr. Fay, thcrcby
beginning the longsest term (60 y=ars) of family possession in its
hiztory. Morgan was the son of the Justin Morgan (a rssident of
Randolph, Vt.) wtho owned the horse that became famous as his
namesake and the progenitor of the highly esteemed breed. Justin
Uo ga1 IT settled into the Keyes-Wright House, startsed a stors,
and pursued the breeding of Morgan horses. He may have built for
the latter purpose the barn that remained standing behind the
house until 1960.

Juztin Morgan II apparzsntly resided in Stockbridge for
vears prior to acquiring the Keyes-Wright Houss. By 18
a local justice of the peace and witnessed the indentur
Elias Keyes and the Union lMeeting House Society. Five
lzter, in 1833, he served the same role in the transfer of a
small lot from Almon Durkee to John Forest. Lying west of the
Common, this lot 1s possibly the site of the modest vernacular
house (#6) that stands adjacent to the church.

S+

2

e between
vears
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After Justin Morgan II's death in 1853, his wife, Sally Durke
licrgan, adapted the Keyves-Yright House into a boarding house or
inn, probably out of nescessity for income to support the largs
building. Various modifications were made to the interior,
including the partitioning of thes second-floor center hall into
two additional rooms. In 1869, Sally conveyed the house to her
son, Harvey D. Morgan, who had married the daughter of Dr.
Timothy Fay. Harvey Morgan operated the store at the lewer
crossroads, and lived in a house that was constructed fer him
acroszs the road. Apparently he continued to operate the farm;
Child's Gazzstteesr and Business Directory of 1884 describes him as
"postmaster, trustee surplus fund, general merchant, and farmexr"
who owned 200 acres, and also lists George L. Walker as "farmer
for H. D. Morgan." After Harvey's death in 1886, his wife, Enily
D., retained ownership of the Keyes-Wright House until 1892.

Stoclkbridge Common's situation on the terrace above the valley
flocr proved a disadvantage for transport, which increasingly
followad the easier grades of the wvalley road bypassing ths
Common. The Beers atlas of 1869 shows that the Common hamlet was
losing activity to the crossroads at the foot of so-called Clay
Hill to the south. The post office had been moved from the
Common to Harvey llorgan's store, one of the two stores and a
hotel occupying corners of that intersection. The presence of
these enterprises indicates that the crossroads had becomz ths
commercial focus for this part of the township.

At thes Common, a small storzs existed next to the =zast of the
Keves-Wright House (then owned by Mrs. Justin Morgan II). This
one~and-one-half~-story, clapboarded, gable-roofed building stood
parallsl to the road, repeating the eaves—-front orientation of
ths Keyes-Vright House next door. A daguerrotype made Dvobably
c¢. 1860 shows a sign bearing the name "J. B. Rogers & Co.
(Josiah Rogers married Elizabeth, the sister of Harvey D., Ju
II7Z, Charles, and Azro B. Morgan) over the off-center entranc
another sign over the left window bay reads "A. B. iorgan."
Later us=ad as a house {ownsd by E. S. Burnham during the 1880s),
this building was removad c. 1910.
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Three other bulldings alsc flanked the Common in 1869, two of
which were removed during the twentieth century. Next to ths
gazst of the small store stood a building (marked by a largs
symbol) belonging to E. G. Butterfield that was also known as the
"Tontine;" this mayv have beszsn the first tavern in Stockbridge
townshipr. On the west side of the Keyes-Wright House was a
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smaller house belonging to V. Chamberlain, presumably ¥illiam A.,
a farm laborer; this one-and-one-half-story, clapboarded, gablszs-
roofad house also repeated the eaves-front orientation of the
adjacent buildings. The presently (1989) extant house next to
ths church was then owned by C. Carroll, presumably Charles S., a
whezelwright and farmer. The church was already labsled as th2
"0ld Union Church," indicating possibly its declining usage
rather than its forty years of age. On the east side of the
cemastery, the map shows a small house owned by A. [Abel]
Whitcomb, a farmer who then lived at the lower crossroads; during
thz 1880s, this house was unoccupied and used for hay storage,
and 1t was later removed (possibly for an expansion of the
cemstery). The District No. 1 school then (1869) stood & short
distance west of the Common on the north side of the rozad.

By 1876, the church had arparsntly fallen into disrepair.
Several meetings were held during the spring of that year to
congider the repair or replacement of the building. The decision
was made to repair, and the work was performed during the latter
half of the same year; the slips (pews) were sold to raise the
necessary funds. Following the completion of thes repairs, the
church was rededicated in February, 1877. Three religicus
dz“omlnations ~ the Congregationalists, Universalists, and
thodists - then held interests in the church, and a dirsctor
2lected to represent sach society in the managemznt of thes
5 affzirs. Enos Chandler was chosen director of the
egabloﬂal Society but he was succeeded in 1878 by Earvey
James Baker was then director of the Universzalists, and
B_nt of the Hethodists. 2lso in 1876, the Ladies' Union
ociesty was organized; this group would outlive ths
ividual denominations and become the owner of the church
uring the twentieth century.
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A nezw building, and the next-to-last constructed of ths »ra
gxtant buildings, appeared next to the Common in 1884. Thse
District Mo. 1 schoolhouse (#4) was erected during the fall
that wvear but not without contention among the taxpayvers of
trict. A board found in thes building bears a messags

ilding Committee, whose efforts were "opposed by the Yzalth:
in the District, H. D. Morgan, Ebanezer Woolcutt, favorsd
thz poor pecple." The need for the replacement is evident
the same messags "the o0ld school house a mere racik unfit
ep cattle orx hogs in. Mo man living that ever paid a2 tax to
e 0l1ld school House." Although constructed a half-century
z church, the schoolhouse displays similar vernacular
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Grzel Revival character. & gesture toward more contemporary
design aprears over the front door in the form of an Italianate
hood that represents ths latest architectural style evident among
Stockbridge Common's buildings.

Seven years after the completion of the new schoolhouse, the
Common received another pubklic improvement. The grounds of
Maplewood Cemetery were expandad in the f£all of 1891. The
enlarged zresa was enclosed by a new fance, probably the wood
picket fence with round-arched gate(s) that was later replaced by
the present chain-link version.

nset of the twentieth century was marled in the upper Vhits
River wvalley by the construction of one of the last railroads
built in Vermont. The 'hite River Valley Raillroad extended
ninesteen miles from a junction with the Central Vermont Railway's
main line at Bethel to th2 northern terminus of Rochester. Th=
track was laid only to Gaysville when the company went bankrupt.
After the wvalley towns provided grants, including $10,000 from
Stockbridge, the line was completed and opened for ssrvice in
December, 1900. The railrocad passed through the vicinity of
Stockbridge Common across the river from the lower crossroads.
Itz effect on the Common hamlet was probably limited to the
improvement in passenger travel compared with the stage coaches
that previocusly traversad the valley.

d 13
(=
W
[¢]

1)

liore repairs were made to the church in 1899. The Ladies' Aid
Sociesty toolk the initiative for the work, which included painting
of both the exterior and interior, repair of the shutters, and
replacement of the front steps. Nevertheless, ths church
continued to contract in membership and activity. Regular
services apparently ceased after the death in 1905 of Rev. Thomas
S. Hulbbard, a Congregationalist who had served many years as
pastor (he resided in the Keyes-Wright House, and had bsen
Stockbridge school superintendent as early as 1860). An 01d Home
Celabration held during ths summer became the princival event of

the vear, attracting both current and former Stockbridge
residents. The Ladies' Aid Society assumed responsibility for
he church building, having electricity installsd in 1921. Two

vears latsr, the Socizsty formally becams "ths custodian of the
Unicen Church and its affairs.™

The curvzss and relatively steep grades of the road through
Steckbridge Common from the walley must have made it increasingly
undsassirable with the rising numbers of automobilss - and their
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ting speed - during the early twentieth century. The so-—
c;11 d D ugrray along the valley floor becams the favored route for
through traffic, and the Common was effectively bypassed. Thi
road later bascame the state highway, Route 100. The shift of
traffic undoubtedly plaved a major role in the decline of
activity and development around the Common.

SO, ement of roads and the rapid increase in motor wvehicle
mbined with the Great Depression to cause thes ultimate

e of the ”hltc River Valley Railroad. The flood of 1927,

er, nzarly achieved the same result. The track paralleled
the river along virtually the entire route and was extsnsively

zd by the flood. 2 public subscription of $150,000 enablad

reconstruction of the line but it reopened for service only

s before the financial collapse of 1929. The traffic nsver
ed to former levels, and the last train made its trio along
what wasz known locally as the "Peavine line" in April, 1922.

A more fundamental reason for the decline of the Common hamlst is

2 decrease in population of Stockbridge township that continusd
into the third quarter of the present century. The 1900 census
recorded 822 inhabitants compared to the historiczl maximum of
1419 in 1840, and the number dropped steadily with subsequent
censusss. Only 460 by 1930, the population shrank to 382 in
1970, the latter figure being barely half the corressponding
figure for 1810.

f the church dwindled to the point that it was closed

the winter months. Summer services were conducted by

ters of the three denominations from nearby towns or

ere. In 1941, the building was repaired and painted again.
Sincs then, the Ladies' Aid Society has continued to maintain the
church although services are limited to occasional weddings,
funsrals, or other special events.

b
<4
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r the causes, the present century brought a gradual
n in the number of standing buildings around the Common.
11 store next to the Keyves-Wright House was ramcvad c.
and the adjacent Tontine along with its barn follcwed in
The church's horse sheds were removed probably during ths
and the present town shed was built (or possibly rebuilt
heds) on the site adjoining the cemet=xry. The most
oval, involving the house next to the west of the
ht House, occurred in 1964. As if to confirm ths

the Common hamlet, the District No. 1 school was
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closad in June, 1956, in favor of a new consolidatzad school
elzzwhere in Stockbridge township.
After the lorgan family's tenure ended in 12892, the Keves-Vright
House passed through several ownerships, and was allowed to
eteriorats during the Dspression sra. In 1959, the present
owners, James and Robyn Wright, acquired the property. They
proceeded to give the main block of the house a thorough
rehabilitation; the rear ell, however, had degenerated to the
point that it collapsed during the project and was entirely
rzplaced. The adjacent barn was in similar condition and was
talen down at the sames tims. In 1960, the Wrights also purchaszd
thz abandoned schoolhouss and, two decades later, adapted it
sympathetically to residential use. Recently the same owners
have acguired the Carroll Houss nsxzt to the church, and are
now {1989) Drebavlng to rehabilitate it. The small barn (37)
acress the road shelters the Morgan horses being raised by the
Urights, who have revivad the practice of the Morgan family
Ths twentieth-century dem011tlong at Stockbridge Common have
reducad the hamlet to its nineteenth-century physical extent,
although the surviving bu*ldings represent a longer chrcnological
period. The historic distvict nonetheless conveys a strong sense
of architectural and historic cohesiveness. The vernacular
Faderal and Greek Revival design shared by most of the buildings,
the commonality of materials and forms, the lack of modsrn
intrusions, and the pastorzl nature of the hamlet's setting
contribute most importantly to this sense of cohesiveness.
Furthermors, the continued rehabilitation of the individuzl
buildings will preserve both their historic charncter and futurse
viahility. Stockbridgs Common restains to an extraordinary degree
the appearance and feeling o a diminutive n1neteenth—century
Vermont hill village, an architectural environment now on the
verge of extinction in the rapidly changing state.
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BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary of the Stockbridge Common Historic District begins
at a Point A located at the intersection of the westerly edge of
the Town Highway 11 right-of-way and a stone wall located about
570 feet northerly of the intersection between Town Highways 11
and 3; thence the boundary follows said stone wall 520 feet in a
northwesterly direction to a Point B located at its intersection
with a roughly perpendicular stone wall extending in a
southwesterly direction; thence the boundary turns southwesterly
and follows the latter stone wall 450 feet to the northerly edgse
of the Town Highway 3 right-of-way and continues in an extension
of that line across said right-of-way to a Point C located at its
intersection with the southerly edge of said right-of-way;

thence the boundary turns northwesterly and follows the southerly
edge of said right—-of-way 60 feet to a Point D located at its
intersection with a stone wall extending in a southwesterly
direction; thence the boundary turns southwesterly and follows
said stone wall 215 feet to a Point E located at its intersection
with a stone wall extending in a northwesterly direction; thence
the boundary turns northwesterly and follows said stone wall (and
property line of HMaplewood Cemetery) 390 feet to a Point F
located at the northwest property corner of said cemetery; thence
the boundary turns southwesterly and follows the westerly
property line of Maplewood Cemetery 450 feet to a Point G located
at the southwest property corner of said cemetery; thence the
boundary turns southeasterly and follows the southerly prop=zrty
line of said cemetery a total of 1145 feet to a Point H located
at the southeast property corner of said cemetery; thence the
boundary turns northeasterly and follows the easterly property
line of said cemetery 210 feet to a Point I located at the
northeast property corner of said cemetery; thence the boundary
turns easterly and follows the southerly edge of the driveway
along the south side of the Common about 120 feet to a Point J
located at its intersection with a southerly extension across
both the driveway and the Town Highway 3 right-of-way of a line
along the westerly edge of the Town Highway 11 right-of-way:
thence the boundary turns northerly and follows said extension
and line, crossing both the driveway and the Town Highway 3
right-of-way and continuing along the westerly edge of the Town
Highway 11 right-of-way about 570 feet to Point A, the point of
beginning.
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BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundary of the Stockbridge Common Historic District
encompasses the namesake Common together with the buildings and
cemetery that constitute the hamlet surrounding the Common. The
boundary encloses the entire area of Maplewood Cemetery (#3) and
the entire lots historically associated with the Union Church
(#1), the Stockbridge Common School (#4), and the Carroll House
#6). Additionally the boundary includes a portion of the land
associated with the Keyes-Wright House (#5) and defined by stone
walls to the north and west of the house; Town Highway 11 serves
as a visual edge along the east side of this land. A relatively
steep, downward-sloping bank delimits the south side of the
cemetery (and historic district). Outside the east and west
portions of the boundary, there occurs diminution in the historic
integrity of the built environment and loss of direct association
with the Common itself.
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PROPERTY OWNERS

1, 2. Ladies' Aid Society of Stockbridge Union Meeting House
c¢/o (Mrs.) Ramona Blackmer
RFD 2

Bethel, Vermont 05032

3. Town of Stockbridge
P. O. Box 39
Stockbridge, Vermont 05772

4, 5, 6, 7. James W. and Robyn C. Wright
Heritage Farm
RFD 2
Bethel, Vermont 05032
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following information repeats for all photographs excapt
2 noted:

Stockbridge Common Historic District

Stockbridge, Vermont

Credit: Hugh H. Henry

Negative filed at Vermont Division for Historic Preservation

Photograpvh 1

Date: April 1989

Dezcription: Overview of Common with Union Church (#1), Keves-
Uright House (#5), and school (#4): wview looking northwest.

Photograrh 2

Date: May 1988

Description: Common-scape (#2 on left, #1, #6, #7, #5 on right);:
view looking west.

P30to ﬂbh 3

Credi photographer unknown

Date: <¢. 1920

Dascription: Common-scape (#1 on left, #6, #5 on right); view
looking northwest.

Photograph 4

Date: May 1988

Description: Union Church (#1) - south, east facades; view
looking north.

Photograph 5

Date: April 1989

Description: Union Church (#1) - interior of auditorium; view
looking west.

Photcocgraph 6

Date: May 1988

Description: Stockbridge Town Shed (#2) - south, east facades;
view loolking west.

Photograph 7

Date: May 1988

Description: Maplewood Cemetery (it3) - north front; view looking
south.
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Photograph 8

Date: !ay 1988

Description: Maplewood Cemetery
looking north.

Photograph 9
Date: April 1989
Description:

fazcades; view looking east.

Photograph 10

Date: llay 1988

Description: Keyes-Wright House
looking north.

Photograph 11

Date: April 1989

Descripticn: Keyes-Wright House
looking northeast.

Photograph 12

Date: Zzpril 1989

Description: Keyes-Wright Houss
facade; view looking north.

D
a

t

(#6)

Phctograph 14

Date: DMay 1988

Dezcription: Horse barn (#7)
north.

Stockbridge Common School

#5)

(#5)

(#5)

— south,

east,

east facades;

water fountain; view

(#4) - west, south

south, east facades; view

west, south facades; visw
main entry on south
view

north facades;

view looking
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